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PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

The H-story bungalow at 618-620 North 4th Avenue is noteworthy for its architectural 
design and construction materials. It has a typical bungalow plan configuration with 
a porch along its entire street facade. A hipped roof covers the main portion of the 
house and the porch. Over the porch, the roof is carried on a classical architrave, 
which is supported by four square columns with bases and capitals derived from the 
Tuscan Order. The street-side roof plane has a hipped dormer with louvered ventila­ 
tors. The porch is enclosed with a solid railing and is reached by steps flanked 
with stepped cheek blocks. Originally a single-family dwelling, this building has 
been modified for multi-family use. At the rear is a jumble of wood-frame elements, 
parts of which probably incorporate original construction. The window and door open­ 
ings are rectangular and have projecting concrete lintels; the windows have project­ 
ing concrete sills. Windows are the double-hung type, and those on the porch have 
diarm^nd-shaped, beveled-glass lights. The building has Neoclassical-derived propor­ 
tions and details. The mass-produced, cast concrete masonry units, made to simulate 
stone, are particularly noteworthy. They are used, typically, in the wall construc­ 
tion and are laid in a running bond. Special units, which are stacked, are utilized 
in the porch columns. The column capitals and bases are also precast concrete el­ 
ements. Constructed in 1906, this building demonstrates an early, successful build­ 
ing method utilizing factory-produced elements and is an especially noteworthy el­ 
ement in the streetscape.



STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE/HISTORY

This cottage is architecturally significant for its use of precast concrete block 
simulating rusticated stone. Although the use of concrete block at the turn of the 
century was not uncommon, this house, and its twin at 614 N. 4th Avenue, is one of 
the few remaining examples of concrete block in Phoenix. Moreover, it is one of 
the earliest to use this construction material. The house was apparently construc­ 
ted ca. 1906, although some secondary sources suggest a ca. 1901 construction date. 
In 1906, the Phoenix Artificial Stone and Cement Company was apparently manufactur­ 
ing concrete block made to simulate rusticated stone. Other manufacturers may also 
have been in the area, as concrete block machines were available through the Sears, 
Roebuck & Company catalogue. Precast concrete block was promoted as "better and 
cheaper" than brick or stone and was valued for its insulating and fire resistant 
qualities. As many as fourteen block designs were available from Sears. The de­ 
sign used on this cottage was labeled "Standard Rock Face." As one of the earliest 
known and few extant examples in Phoenix of a house constructed entirely of con­ 
crete block, this house appears eligible to the National Register at the local level 
of significance.
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BLOCK E, LOT 10, BENNETT PLACE.
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650 North 1st Avenue 
Charles H. Dunlap House 
BP-61 (S)

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (Continued)

masonry openings are rectangular. The main entrance door element is contained 
in an arched opening; it consists of the door proper, flanking sidelights, and 
a transom. The upper half of the door and the transom have a number of beveled 
glass lights. The building has a basement. This Mission Revival style house 
makes a significant architectural contribution to the street scene.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE/HISTORY (Continued)

to the settlement of the arid desert. Now known as the Crystal Ice and Cold 
Storage Company, it is the largest ice company in the state. In 1911, Dunlap 
and Baker bought half interest, and later (1915) full interest, in the Phoenix 
Wood and Coal Company. This company played an important role in supplying the 
domestic fuel needs of Phoenicians. In 1913, the firm pioneered the sale of 
fuel oil in Phoenix. From 1916-1919, Dunlap served as Phoenix City Commissioner.

For its outstanding architectural qualities, construction material, and associ­ 
ation with local entrepreneur Charles H. Dunlap, the house is locally significant.


